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The Albert Swain Bryson House sits on a rise facing north toward the Main Street of 
Franklin in Macon County, North Carolina. Two-hundred feet of gently sloping lawn, 
shaded by tall conifers separates the house from the busy main street. Pine Lane, 
a private road, runs from the main street to the west side of the structure. Perhaps 
the most distinguished home in Franklin, the Bryson House, known locally as IIHall in 
the Pines," brings a sense of fine country grandeur to its small town setting. Reminiscent 
of A. J. Downing's cottage homes, the structure is an unusual vernacular blend of 
Romantic Revival styles displaying both Gothic and Italianate details. The Bryson 
House is said to have been constructed by an English cabinetmaker and modeled after a 
residence in Buffalo, New York. 

The original form of the building was a double-pile plan, two stories beneath a tall 
hipped roof with broad gables. A room-deep extension, with details copied exactly 
from the original, was added across the rear during ,the 1960s. The lower two stories 
are of common bond red brick with wl1.itewooden trim; the upper portion of the structure, 
the roof with its large gables r is frame. Two interior chimneys rise from the roof. 
The windows contain two-over-two sash and display pedimented window heads. 

The roof, which is the most striking exterior feature of the house, is hipped with wide 
full-height gables on all sides. The gables, of flush horizontal sheathing, dominate 
the exterior appearance. The original rear portion of the roof, which can be seen 
in the attic, did not have the full gable but merely contained a small dormer. The 1960s 
extension is covered by a long gable which imitates the facade gable. The corrugated 
metal roof has a wide overhanging eave with a molded cornice and wide frieze. Elaborate 
sawnwork brackets support the eave in pairs. Bricks projecting at the building's corners 
form pilasters which support the broad frieze on molded capitals. 

A flat-roofed, two-story porch supported by boxed columns fronts the building. The 
porch is a 1960s addition replacing an earlier porch which was stylistically similar 
with narrower columns. The porch has robust cornices across the first and second tiers. 
Four central columns rise continuously from the five-bay first tier through the three­
bay second tier. The upper level exhibits a delicate sawnwork balustrade. 

The principal entrance, centered on the facade, consists of double doors with arched 
panels flanked by sidelights and surmounted by a rectangular transom. The entrance is 
accentuated by a handsome walnut surround composed of narrow pilasters supporting an 
entablature. Multi-paned french doors open to the second-story porch from the center 
hall on the second floor. 

Centered in the facade gable is a narrow double window beneath a'blind fan. The other 
gables display the same narrow Romantic Revival windows. Those on the east and west 
sides are surmounted by pedimented heads, like those on the first- and second-story 
windows The 1960s rear gable, however, duplicates the facade's fan. 

All the building's shutters have recently been rebuilt. On the east side and in the 
rear addition, small windows with pedimented heads have been introduced to add light 
in the bathrooms. 
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The west side of the structure displays an elaborate two-story, three-sided bay window 
with narrow one-over-one sash separated paired pilasters. Recessed octagonal- and 
shield-shaped panels ornament the spandrels at each level. The bay window has a fanciful 
triple-gable roof. 

The rear addition includes a flat-roofed single-story porch which runs the length of the 
building and turns east to where the addition joins the original structure. Boxed 
pillars, like those on the facade, support the rear porch. Entrances with six-panel' 
doors beneath pedimented heads are present on the east and north sides of the addition. 

The interior walnut woodwork of the original structure is exceptional, possibly the 
legacy of the English cabinetmaker. The ground-floor center hall features a paneled staircasE 
with decorative brackets on its open stringer, turned balusters, and a boxed, paneled 
newel. The doors on the first floor have six panels; those on the second floor contain 
four panels. The doors have handsome molded walnut surrounds and are surmounted by three­
pane transoms. Each of the eight roomscontains a mantel. The mantels are variations of 
the post and lintel form with curvilinear Italianate trim. The rooms feature wide molded 
baseboards and narrow picture rails. The parlor bay window on the west side exhibits 
fine molded Italianate woodwork and a distinctive coffered ceiling. The dining room, 
located on the west side beyond the parlor, displays unusual built-in pie cupboards on 
either side of the mantel. These tall cupboards have decorative tin panels and fine 
walnut woodwork. 

The center-hall, double-pile plan of the house remains unaltered by the 1960s addition, 
which consists of a two-room, center-hall plan across the rear. A rear door opens 
from the hall of the original structure back to the addition. On the ground floor 
of the addition there is a pecan paneled sitting room with an east side entrance. 
The kitchen is on the west side. The upstairs is divided into an east bedroom, hall 
and bath. Bathrooms have been added between the two rooms on the east side on both 
floors of the original portion of the house. 

The unfinished full attic has a cathedral effect with exposed rafters and an angular 
ceiling. The two massive brick chimneys dominate the attic space. 

The Albert Swain Bryson House stands as a prominent landmark in the town of Franklin. 
Architecturally, the use of the Romantic Revival styles in a vernacular brick house 
is unusual in western North Carolina. Although some changes have occurred, the 1960s 
extension is an excellent modern adaptation of the earlier style~ 
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Constructed in the 1870s, the Albert Swain Bryson House, "Hall in the Pines," stands 
as a landmark in the town of Franklin, Macon County. Albert Bryson was a prominent 
citizen of Franklin--town magistrate, contractor, farmer; and his handsome horne was 
representative of his position in the community. Architecturally, the Albert Swain 
Bryson House is significant as a rare western North Carolina example of a vernacular 
brick house displaying both Gothic and Italianate stylistic features. The interior 
woodwork of the house is exceptional, possibly the legacy of the English cabinetmaker 
tradition holds as its 'builder. A 1960s addition is an excellent modern adaptation 
of the earlier style. The Albert Swain' Bryson house brings a sense of fine country 
grandeur to its small town setting. 

CRITERIA ASSESSMENT 

C. The Albert Swain Bryson House is a fine vernacular representation of the Romantic 
Revival styles displaying both Gothic and Italianate features. Perhaps the most 
distinguished horne in the town of Franklin, the house contains walnut woodwork of 
extremely high quality. A 1960s addition with details copied from the original, 
blends beautifully with the rest of the structure. 
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The Albert Swain Bryson House or "Hall in the Pines" is located in the town of Franklin, 
Macon County, North Carolina. This two and a half story home is situated on a hill not far 
from the Little Tennessee River. Tradition states that Bryson built the structure a short 
time prior to 1872; yet the available records indicate a probable construction date between 
1875 and 1878. 1 

Bryson reputedly was inspired for the design of his new home by a house seen while 
visiting a friend in Buffalo, New York.2 According to this story, upon returning to Frank­
lin, Bryson contracted a cabinetmaker who had recently immigrated from England to erect the 
house based on blueprints he had brought back from New York. The Englishman, along with 3 
Bryson who was also a contractor, built a kiln on the property and baked their own bricks. 
The finished product was quite an imposing structure. 

Bryson was a prominent man in the local community. 
a merchant, a farmer, and a miner in the mica industry.4 
selected for Franklin Township in 1884. 5 Bryson also is 
who built the old Franklin courthouse in 1872. 6 

His occupations included being 
He was one of six magistrates 

said to have been the contractor 

By 1894, at the age of forty-two, Bryson owned thirty-five acres in and around Frank­
lin with a real value of $3,600. His total aggregate worth in real and personal property 
was estimated at $4,230. 7 

The Bryson home place served as home for others as well as the owner's immediate 
family. In 1880, a live-in servant and a male boarder resided at the "Hall in the Pines" 
along with Bryson, his wife Leona, and their children. 8 

Albert Bryson died in 1900. He left his entire estate, valued at $10,000 to his wife.
9 

In 1920, Leona L. Bryson conveyed the Bryson farm, consisting of 18~ acres to Thomas W. 
Porter, Sr.l0 Porter was married to Mrs. Bryson's daughter whose name was also Leona. The 
Porters entered a deed of trust with a Henry Cabe, using the Bryson farm as security in 1929. 
However, in 1932, there was a defaplt in payment and Henry Cabe caused the property to be 
put up for public sale at the Macon County Courthouse in 1932. Leona B. Porter, Thomas W. 
Porter's wife, became the highest bidder at $3,000, thus keeping the farm in possession 
of the Bryson family.Il 

In 1936, Thomas W. and Leona Porter came into full ownership of the remainder of the 
Bryson estate when the remaining family heirs, having moved to Pima, Arizona, conveyed to 
the Porters alt their interests to Leona Bryson's lands In and afound Franklin. 12 During 
this period Thomas Porter initiated a few alterations to the old home by lowering the 
ceilings. At least two rooms were also added. 13 

Sometime after 1940, the acreage surrounding the house ceased to be used as farm land. 
This was due mainly to the construction of a dam and reservoir in the vicinity.14 In 1961, 
Thomas W. Porter died, leaving all of the estate and interests to his wife Leona. IS By 
1966, Leona B. Porter, with the counsel of her son, Thomas Porter, Jr., sold the old igyson 
home tract comprising of seventeen and a half acres to Lester Arnold and Reva Arnold. Ms. 
Reva Reneau nOh7 ovms the property 
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FOOTNOTES 

1ephone with Thomas W, Porter, Jr. January 14 and 21 1981, hereinafter 
cited as the Thomas W. Porter, phone 1: Macon County Deed Books (microfilm) 
Archives, Division of Arch s and His , Raleigh s North Carolina, Deed Book 0, 470, 
509, hereinafter cited as Macon County Deed Books; Macon County Tax Lists 1875 (microfilm) 
Archives, Division of Archives and His Raleigh, North Carol ,hereinafter cited as 
Mccan County Tax Lists (microfilm). 

" 
2 Thomas W. Porter, Jr. phone interview, January 14, 1981. 

3 Thomas W. Porter, Jr., phod2 interview January 14, 1981. 

4 Thomas W. Porter, Jr., phone interview, January 21, 1981 Eleventh Census of the 
United States, 1880: Macon County, North Carolina, Population Schedule, 482, hereinafter 
cited as Macon County Census. 

5Levi Branson, Branson's North Carolina Business Directory for 1884 (Raleigh. I.evi 
Branson Office Publisher, Sixth Edition~ 1884), 427, 

6 Thomas W. Porter, Jr.~. phone intervie\.;r, January 21,1981. 

7 Macon County Tax Lists (microfilm), 1894. 

8 Macon County Census, Population Schedule, 1880. 

9 Macon County Estates Records, A. S. Bryson, 1900, Archives, Division of Archives and 
History, Raleigh, North Carolina; Macon County Will Books (microfilm), Archives, Division 
of Archives and History, Raleigh, North Carolina, Will Book 2, p. 267, hereinafter cited 
as Macon County Will Books. 

70 County Deed Book F-4'~ 329. Macon p. 

11 County Deed Book T-4, 292. Macon p. 

12 County Deed Book Z-4, 117. Macon p. 

IJ1110mas ~W Porter, Jr , phone terview, January 21, 1981. 

14 Thomas W, Porter, Jr. , phone interview, January 21, 1981. 

15 Will Book 6, 536. Hacon County p. 

16 Thomas W. Porter» 'Jr. , phone interview, January 21, 1981. 
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